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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The NCO Building is a stone block structure built in 1917 to house the 
administrative office of the Nevada-California-Oregon Railway. The building 
shows a significant transition between two important periods in California 
architecture. Elements of the earlier Mission Revival are seen in the 
curved espadana gable of the facade, and in the Mission style arches 
which surround the entrance. The influence of the later Spanish Colonial 
Revival appears in the Churrigueresque ornamentation of the side entrance. 
The building has a tile roof and a bell tower characteristic of both phases 
of the Spanish styles in California. The imposing belfry of the structure 
needed a set of bells in keeping with its Spanish architecture; with the 
exception of one metal bell the rest are wooden dummies, turned on the 
company lathe.

The present owners of the structure, the Elks Lodge, maintain it in good m 
condition. It has changed little in appearance since its construction m 
as a railroad office with the exception of the addition of a BPOE sign 
over the porch and a small bulletin board next to the building for the 
announcement of local events. A well kept lawn enhances the east front 
of the building. On the north and west sides a large parking lot has t/» 
been constructed adjacent to the building; a one-story commercial structure 
has been built near the south side. The NCO building is on the main street 
of Alturas, Highway 395, in a mixed residential-commerical neighborhood.

Some interior modifications have been made; however, the exterior of 
the building is virtually unaltered.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The coming of the railroad to Alturas has been called the city's most 
stabilizing feature. Its real beginning was June 1, 1880, when John T. 
Pavis organized a stock selling company called the Nevada Oregon Railroad. 
The railroad was projected to run in both directions from Reno to the south 
of Aurora, and to the north to the California-Oregon line at the western 
shore of Goose Lake. The first spike was driven in 1881. In 1884, the 
railroad was sold to the Moran Brothers banking firm, and its name was 
changed to the Nevada-California-Oregon Railway.

It was not until fifteen years later that residents of Alturas could 
avail themselves readily of the railroad. Regular service to Alturas 
began on December 1, 1908. Since then it has played a major role in the 
development of Modoc County. In 1917, the N.C.O. Railway sold that portion 
of its line from Reno to Hackstaff (now known as Herlong) to the Western 
Pacific for the sum of $700,000. This necessitated moving the administrativ 
^eadquarters and shops of the N.C.O. from Reno to another location some­ 
where along the remaining N.C.O. lines.

Citizens and businessmen of the city of Alturas had offered the N.C.O. a 
gift of $10,000 in cash and 20 acres of city property if they would 
establish their new headquarters in Alturas. This offer was accepted.

The Alturas Plaindealer of February 1, 1918 reported "N.C.O. Headquarters 
Established Here". The entire office force of the N.C.O. had arrived on 
the train the previous Wednesday and since the new administration building 
lad not been completed, they were occupying temporary offices in the 
Fitzgerald House.

Local papers do not reveal the date when the N.C.O. Building was completed 
and occupied but it evidently was some time later in 1918.

Previously the Plaindealer of August 24, 1917 had run a full-page feature 
picturing the architect's drawing of the "Proposed Nevada-California-Oregon 
Railway Company General Office Building", and mentioned that it would cost 
approximately $40,000. It also stated that the stone for the building 
rould come from the Sisson quarry west of town. From the foregoing it may 

inferred that the N.C.O. Building construction started shortly after

(continued, see attached sheets)
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August 24, 19I/ and was completed sometime after February 1, 1918. The 
original architect's drawing of the building is in the Modoc County Museum.

On October 8, 1926, the N.C.O. Railway was sold to the Southern Pacific, 
which did not actually take over its operation until September 15, 1929. 
For a short time the S.P. operated both their standard gauge and the N.C.O 
narrow gauge, but this proved impractical and they dropped the narrow gauge 
after a few years.

Architectural Significance

The N.C.O. Building represents a significant transition between the Mission 
Revival and the Spanish Colonial Revival architectural styles. It was 
built at a time when the popularity of the Mission Revival style was wanning 
and the new Spanish Colonial Revival was beginning to become more popular. 
The Mission Revival was modeled after California's Spanish Missions and 
was felt by many promoters of California in the 1890's to be the logical 
architecture which would be in keeping with California's environment and 
heritage. Romantic literature of the period such as Ramona by Helen Hunt 
Jackson and C. F. Lummis' Land of Sunshine magazine helped to establish 
a romantic southern California Spanish legend; this romantic image of the 
state was widely promoted through brochures to prospective settlers which 
described the remarkable climate and arcadian qualities of the California 
landscape. Within the context of the romanticism of the literature and 
the promotional efforts of the period the Mission Style became almost 
immediately successful. By the late 1890's the curved Mission Style gables 
and arches, tile roofs and stucco were appearing frequently in the con­ 
struction of railroad stations, schools, commercial buildings and houses. 
According to David Gebhard in Architecture of San Francisco and Northern 
California "although the style did not transform northern California as 
it did the southern part of the state, hardly a single town came out of 
the period without at least one building clothed in Mission Revival garb." 
The craze for Mission Revival cottages and public buildings was on the 
wane when in 1915 the California-Panama Exposition at San Diego introduced 
a new form of Spanish-based architecture, the Spanish Colonial Revival. 
According to its proponents, this was the ideal architecture for California 
since it was based upon original Spanish colonial antecedents, rather 
than upon the California missions which were generally crude, unsophisti­ 
cated buildings. The highly ornamented Spanish Colonial Revival had 
become an architectural movement which swept California and much of the 
United States.

The N.C.O. Building is a notable transition between the two styles. 
Primarily Mission Revival, it effectively combines elements of the Spanish 
Colonial Revival into a strong statement of the development of architectural 
taste in California of the early 20th Century.
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